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2020 UPDATE 
 

It has been twenty years since the 
recognition of the 65th Anniversary in 2000 
of the opening of the Riverside-Delanco 
Bridge and the compilation of an historical 
booklet for one of the Burlington County 
Bridge Commission’s movable bridges. 

The original August 2000 65th Anniversary 
and September 2015 80th Anniversary  

historical booklets have been included in this 
updated booklet for reference and as a 
reminder of the previously presented 
historical information. 

Once again, this booklet still does not claim 
to present a complete history of the bridge. 
However, it does provide some additional 
information and photographs which 
probably have not appeared in print in many 
decades. It also includes additional 
information related to the 1870 first and the 
1901 second Riverside-Delanco Bridges. It 
is hoped that this booklet shall be updated at 
future anniversaries in order to provide even 
more interesting information for those who 
have an appreciation for the uniqueness of 
the Riverside-Delanco Bridge. 

Acknowledgment is made to Peter Fritz, 
Secretary of the Delanco Historic 
Preservation Advisory Board for kindly 
providing the electronic image files for some 
of the various photographs included in this 
update. 

It should be noted that there are three (3) 
general categories of movable bridges. The 
Commission is very unique in that it owns 
and operates one (1) in each category. The 
Riverside-Delanco is a horizontal swing 
bridge, the Tacony-Palmyra is a bascule 
bridge and the Burlington-Bristol is a 
vertical lift bridge. 

The Commission has actually owned and 
operated the current Riverside-Delanco 
Bridge (the third at the same site) for the 
past 54 years or nearly two thirds of its life 
to date since acquiring it from Burlington 

County in a 1966 County Route 543 (River 
Road) agreement. 

It is stated in the Commission’s original 
1948 Mandate “to provide cost-efficient, 
effective management for the bridges to 
ensure safe, affordable transportation for 
residents, commuters and visitors to the 
area”. This applies to the toll-free 
Riverside-Delanco Bridge as well as the 
1929 Tacony-Palmyra Bridge and 1931 
Burlington-Bristol Bridge along with the 
Commission’s smaller other highway 
bridges. 

Sascha J. Harding 
Director of Engineering 
Burlington County Bridge Commission 

September 13, 2015 
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Photographs – September 14, 1935 Opening Day 

Parade and Dedication 
 

 

parade marching from Riverside 

 

parade marching from Delanco 

 

bridge opening dedication ceremony in front 
of the plaque on the Bridge Tender’s building 
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Image – 1876 Map Showing the 1870 First 

Riverside-Delanco Bridge 
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Image and Information – Contractor for the 

1870 First Riverside-Delanco Bridge 
 

 

Contractor, Moseley Iron Bridge & Roof Company Business Letterhead for Their New 

York Office 

The company was founded in c1858 by Thomas William Moseley in Cincinnati, Ohio and was in 

business until 1879. Moseley was an engineer, bridge builder and designer. Other notable 

Moseley bridges were built in Michigan, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and New Hampshire 

among other states. 
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Postcard of the 1901 Riverside-Delanco Bridge 
 

 
an undated postcard of the second Riverside-Delanco Bridge built in 1901… the third and current Bridge 

was built in 1935 
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Riverside-Delanco Bridge 
 

 
 

 

the eastern (back) side of the Bridge Tender’s building c1935 
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2015 UPDATE 
 

It has been fifteen years since the 
recognition of the 65

th 
Anniversary in 2000 

of the opening of the Riverside-Delanco 
Bridge and the compilation of an historical 
booklet for one of the Burlington County 
Bridge Commission’s movable bridges. 

The original August 2000 65
th 

Anniversary 
historical booklet has been included in this 
updated booklet for reference and as a 
reminder of the previously presented 
historical information. 

While this booklet still does not claim to 
present a complete history of the bridge, it 
does provide some additional information 
and photographs which probably have never 
appeared in print. It is hoped that this 
booklet shall be updated at future 
anniversaries in order to provide even more 
interesting information for those who have 
an appreciation for the uniqueness of the 
Riverside-Delanco Bridge. 

In addition, a listing of the major 
construction projects which have occurred in 
the past fifteen years has also been included. 
These project improvements demonstrate the 
Commission’s continuing commitment to 
their stated Mandate “to provide cost-
efficient, effective management for the 
bridges to ensure safe, affordable 
transportation for residents, commuters 
and visitors to the area”. 

Sascha J. Harding 
Resident Engineer 

Pennoni 
Engineer of Record and Program Manager 
for the 
Burlington County Bridge Commission 

September 14, 2015 
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The Origins of the Names Riverside, Delanco 

and Rancocas Creek 
 

RIVERSIDE 

It was originally named Goattown and then in 1851 changed to Progress. In 1867, it was finally 
named Riverside. 

DELANCO 

In 1845, a charter for a village called Delaranco was granted. The name was derived from a 
combination of Delaware River and Rancocas Creek. 

In 1848, the Delanco Land Company proposed a residential housing development village to be 
named Delaranco. 

In 1849, a new residential development was built and was called Delaranco. It was later unified 
under the name of Delanco. 

In 1857, Delanco was considered the official name with the establishment of the United States 
Post Office. 

RANCOCAS CREEK 

Starting 1633, there are reports of mariners traveling on the yet to be named Rancocas Creek. 

In 1655, the creek was named Rancoqueskill by the Swedish settlers. 

A survey conducted in 1681 listed the creek as the Ancocas-Rancocas Creek. 

The name Rancocas Creek was mentioned in 1702 by the Providence of New Jersey in their 
meeting minutes when referencing the ferry service on the waterway. 
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Photographs – 1934-1935 Construction 
(photographs taken by construction worker Walter Sarrafan) 

 

 

concrete being placed inside the cofferdam for the new bridge center pier 
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Photographs – 1934-1935 Construction 
(con’t) 

 

 

steel sheeting being driven for the new bridge 
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Photographs – 1934-1935 Construction 
(con’t) 

 

 

steel sheeting being driven for the new bridge  
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Photographs – 1934-1935 Construction 
(con’t) 

 

 
 

 

demolition of the existing 1901 second bridge at the same site  
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Photographs – 1934-1935 Construction 
(con’t) 

 

 

concrete being placed on a portion of the Swing Span for the new bridge 
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Photographs – 1934-1935 Construction 
(con’t) 

 

 
 

a temporary single leaf bascule span drawbridge was built  when the existing 1901 bridge 

was demolished and while the new Riverside-Delanco Bridge was being constructed 
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Major Construction Projects Since 2000 
 

Project Title          Project Number 

Expansion Bearings Replacement       BCBC – 200816 
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Major Construction Projects Since 2000 .. (con’t) 
 

Project Title          Project Number 

Concrete Deck Replacement       BCBC – 201207 
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Major Construction Projects Since 2000 .. (con’t) 
 

Project Title          Project Number 

Maintenance and Repairs of Electrical Equipment and Systems   BCBC – 201219 
Submarine Cable Replacement Assignment 
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Riverside-Delanco Bridge Tenders Run In The 

Russ Family 
 

 

George Russ, Sr. at the 1901 Bridge – he was a bridge tender for more than 40 years 

 

George Russ, III was a bridge tender at the current bridge and was an employee of the 

Burlington County Bridge Commission 
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Riverside-Delanco Bridge Tenders Run In The 

Russ Family  (con’t) 
 

 

the property of George Russ located adjacent to the Riverside-Delanco Bridge 
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Riverside-Delanco Bridge 

 

 
a temporary drawbridge was erected when the existing 1901 bridge was demolished and while the new 

Riverside-Delanco Bridge was being constructed 
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THE RIVERSIDE-DELANCO BRIDGE


The Riverside-Delanco Bridge carries County
Route 543 across the Rancocas Creek between 
the towns of Riverside and Delanco in New 
Jersey. The current through Pony Truss style
bridge is the third movable bridge built at this 
same location. 

Although the idea surfaced in 1853, the first
bridge was not built until 1870 for wagons and
passengers at the cost of $50,000. It was an old
rounded Bow Truss style bridge. 

The second bridge of the Warren Truss style 
was built in 1901 to accommodate trolleys, 
other vehicles and pedestrians. Due to larger
and heavier trolleys, it was later strengthened in
1923. 

Construction of the present bridge commenced 
in 1934 as a partially federally funded Public
Works Administration project. It was completed 
and opened to traffic on September 14, 1935. 
Kolyn Construction Company was the general 
contractor with the American Bridge Company 
as the fabricator and erector of the 
superstructure steel. The total cost of the bridge
was $252,000. 

In February 1935, the Burlington County
Freeholders replaced Bridgeweld Engineering
Corporation of New York who was the original
Consulting Engineer due to design and 
construction problems. One of the major 
problems was the discovery that the operating 
machinery for the movable span would be under 
water at certain high tides. The Swing Span was
required to be raised four (4) feet and the
abutments three (3) feet to overcome this 
problem. The approaches to the bridge were 
also raised to meet the new elevation of the 
bridge. Apparently, the bridge was constructed
significantly differently from the prepared
contract plans. 

Ash, Howard, Needles and Tammen of New 
York were appointed the new Consulting
Engineer. They were involved until the bridge
was finally completed in September 1935. 
Ultimately, the revised as-built contract plans 
were forwarded to the U.S. War Department for 
approval. 

The bridge was officially dedicated as the
"Landon-Stone Memorial Bridge". Landon 
and Stone were Burlington County residents
who served as high-ranking officers in the
Spanish-American War and also World War I. 

The bridge was originally the responsibility of
the Burlington County but in 1966 ownership
and maintenance was transferred to the 
Burlington County Bridge Commission because 
the bridge and the road (County Route 543)
acted as a "feeder" to both the Tacony-Palmyra 
and Burlington-Bristol Bridges that the 
Commission also own and maintain. The 
Commission has successfully operated and 
maintained the Riverside-Delanco Bridge, an 
important local transportation structure, since 
that time. 

No tolls are collected from the many bridge 
users. In addition, no tax money from 
Burlington County residents is used to maintain 
this and the other bridges along County Route
543 (River Road). 

The bridge structure consists of three (3)
through Pony Truss spans. The center 160 foot
movable Swing Span rotates horizontally to 
permit the passage of recreational marine traffic. 

The total length of the bridge from abutment to 
abutment is approximately 394 feet. The bridge 
roadway is 36 feet in width and carries two (2) 
lanes of vehicular traffic. Pedestrians can travel 
on the downstream side of the bridge across the 
creek. 

Vertical clearance underneath the swing span is
approximately 12 feet at low tide and less than 
half of that at high tide. Marine vessels
requiring a vertical clearance greater than that
of the movable span in the normal closed 
position will request a bridge opening. The
swing span rotates ninety (90) degrees over the
center pier and fender system to permit passage 
of the vessel. At that time, vehicular traffic on 
the bridge is temporarily stopped until the 
vessel clears the bridge and then the span
resumes its normal position. The opening and 
closing operations of the bridge occurs at the
center of the swing span at roadway level by the
bridge operator. 
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The horizontal navigation clearance at the swing
span is approximately 52 feet between the 
timber fenders. 

Electrical power to the bridge is supplied by the
PSE & G utility company. Submarine cables 
that were installed underneath the riverbed carry
the power from one side of the movable span to 
the other to operate the bridge. The bridge
operating machinery is located underneath the 
bridge superstructure. 

The bridge has navigation lights installed at
various locations to warn the marine traffic of 
the bridge structure. 

Over the years, all necessary repairs including 
many upgrades of equipment have been 
performed to maintain the bridge in its safe 
condition for the public use. 

The bridge remains in service to the public 
through virtually all kinds of weather and
conditions. During the winter months of 
November through March, there are no full time 
bridge operators on site. However, with 24-hour
advance notice, the bridge can be opened for
any mariner who requires such an opening. 

The bridge concrete deck and approach
pavement surfaces were initially repaired and 
resurfaced in 1966 and then once again in 1997.
The original pedestrian walkway across the
bridge was replaced in 1994. The bridge
currently still has its original deck that is now 
nearly 65 years old although it has been
diligently repaired over the years. 

Numerous structural steel and concrete repairs 
were performed in 2000 as well as a complete 
repainting of the bridge. 

In recognition of the bridge's 65th anniversary, 
custom carved wooden bridge identification
signs shall be installed on both ends of the
bridge in September 2000 as well as historic 
styled light poles and twin luminaries to replace 
the existing standard aluminum light pole
assemblies. 
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RIVERSIDE-DELANCO BRIDGE … SWING SPAN DESCRIPTION


The 160 foot long movable Swing Span center 
span lies across the Rancocas Creek which is a
navigable waterway. The span is actually a two-
span continuous through pony truss which
rotates horizontally about a center pivot. The
span pivot pier is a round concrete shaft
measuring 30 feet 6 inches in diameter. The 
movable span is flanked by identical through 
pony truss approach spans which measure 112 
feet 8 inches between centerlines of the 
bearings. A small office building is located on 
the Riverside end of the bridge that houses the
bridge operator. 

When the movable span is open, the entire 
weight of the bridge is carried on the center
pivot with the spans cantilevered from the pivot 
pier. When the movable span is closed, the 
swing span is supported at the pivot pier and at
Piers A and B (which are considered to be the
rest piers). 

In the closed position, wedges are driven under
the outer ends of the bridge to lift them, thereby 
providing a positive support sufficient to carry
imposed live loads. This feature prevents uplift 
and hammering of the bridge end that could be 
caused by moving vehicular loads. Balance 
wheels are placed on a circular track around the
outer edge of the pivot pier to prevent tipping in
the open position and when the span is moving. 
The swing span has a swing radius of 83 feet 8 
inches and the mating ends of the approach 
spans are formed to a radius of 83 feet 9-3/4 
inches. 

The operating machinery which is located 
underneath the bridge superstructure is 
comprised three sets of bevel gears, support 
wedges, balance wheels, speed reducers, 
positive clutches and various bearings. The
turning power is furnished by a 15 HP, 3-phase
electric motor. This motor is controlled by a 
step controller through a resistor bank. The
wedge driving mechanism is powered by a 7 1/2 
HP, 3-phase electric motor with a full voltage 
controller. Both motors have electrically
operated brakes. As an auxiliary means of 
operation, a manual operating system is 
accessed through two wrench access plates on
the bridge deck. A special wrench is inserted 

into the opened access plates to manually 
operate the wedges and open the bridge. 

Electrical power for the operation of the span is 
provided through PSE & G feeders. One source
that supplies the bridge operating motors is 200 
amps while the other that supplies the sidewalk 
lights, warning lights and traffic signals is 50 
amps. There are two submarine cables between 
Pier A and the pivot pier and one submarine 
cable between the pivot pier and Pier B. The
actual operator control panels are located at the
center of the span at roadway level. 

The Swing Span is of welded construction. All 
truss members are rolled wide flange sections. 
Some of these have cover plates welded to the 
flanges of the beams. The beams are fillet 
welded directly to gusset plates and the cover
plates are welded to the gusset plates by strap
plates. Splices in the top and bottom chords are 
welded connections utilizing strap plates. The
result of these connections are trusses with 
extremely short and relatively stiff members all 
rigidly connected. The two lines of trusses are
spaced 38 feet 6 inches on centers. 

The floor system is a floorbeam and stringer 
combination with the stringers resting on the top 
flange of the floorbeams. At the intersection, the 
bottom flanges of the stringers are welded to the 
top flange of the floorbeams. All stringers and 
floorbeams, except the pivot girder which 
services as a floorbeam at the center of the span, 
are rolled wide-flange beams. The pivot girder, 
as well as the pinion girder, are riveted built-up
members. The span has eleven floorbeams 
including the center pivot girder all spaced 16
feet on center. The deck consists of a 3 1/2 inch
thick concrete filled steel grating with a 
bituminous concrete wearing surface. 
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RIVERSIDE-DELANCO BRIDGE


Historical Information Related To The Original 

Official Name Of The Bridge 


The "official" name of the present Riverside-Delanco Bridge that carries County Route 
543 across the Rancocas Creek is the “Landon-Stone Memorial Bridge” which was 

opened to traffic on September 14, 1935. 

¾ LANDON was: 

•	 Brigadier General Thomas Durland Landon of the United States 
Army 

•	 Born May 18, 1865 … Died October 29, 1934 
•	 Former head of the Bordentown Military Institute 
•	 Veteran of the Spanish-American War; Private in Company “A” 6th 

Infantry N.J.N.G., Captain in Company “A” 3rd N.J. Volunteers 
•	 Veteran of World War (I); Colonel in 3rd N.J. Infantry 29th Division, 

Commander in 163rd Infantry A.E.F. 

¾ STONE was: 

•	 Colonel Edward Braislin Stone of the United States Army 
•	 Born June 12, 1878 … Died October 31, 1934 
•	 Former Warden of the State Prison 
•	 Veteran of the Spanish-American War; Private in Company “K” 3rd 

N.J. Regiment and was discharged as Sergeant 
•	 Veteran of World War (I); Captain in Company “M” 3rd N.J. 

Infantry, Major in Company “H” 114th Infantry 
•	 Served under General Landon 
•	 Resident of Burlington, New Jersey 

It should also be noted that the cast memorial bronze plaque that until the past several years was affixed 
to the existing operator's house was actually unveiled on opening day by the grandchildren of both 
General Landon and Colonel Stone. The plaque is now in temporary storage at the Commission and shall 
be attached to the bridge superstructure in September 2000. 
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THE LANDON-STONE MEMORIAL BRIDGE

(Present Riverside-Delanco Bridge Built In 1935) 

Blanche Chalfant Tucker wrote the following poem. 

It was a tribute to General Thomas D. Landon and Colonel Edward B. Stone and was read 
at the September 14, 1935 opening and dedication of the Landon-Stone Memorial Bridge 

(presently called the Riverside-Delanco Bridge). 

A wonderful bridge with its graceful span 
Is a triumph indeed to the talent of man 
Who, in his conception of bridging a space 
Forgot not that beauty, too, must have a place 
Hence, the remarkable symmetry, fine 
That bands two towns in unbroken line. 
We have come here, today, to dedicate 
This fine bridge to heroes of our state. 
Two men whose achievements in war, we acclaim; 
Brave, loyal men, we honor each name! 
Their distinguished services were well known ---
General Landon and Colonel Stone. 
They honored not only our state, but the world, 
Their names are on the flag that’s unfurled; 
Our flag that is always unfurled, to see 
Upon it our emblem of Loyalty 
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RIVERSIDE-DELANCO BRIDGE


Past, Current And Future Significant Construction Projects/Work 

PAST 

• 1966 Resurfacing of the swing and approach span concrete decks with a
bituminous concrete overlay 

• 1987 Fender timber repairs 

• 1994 Replacement of the downstream pedestrian walkway 

• 1997 Removal of Bridge Operator House due to structurally deficient support 
piles 

• 1997 Replacement of the bituminous concrete overlay on the swing and 
approach span concrete decks spans 

CURRENT 

• 2000 Structural steel and concrete repairs 

Complete repainting of the bridge 

Replacement of existing aluminum light pole assemblies with historic 
style poles with twin luminaries 

Installation of carved wooden bridge identification signs on Riverside and
Delanco approach roadways that include historic information 

FUTURE 

Installation of new guide rail on Delanco and Riverside D/S Approaches 

Replacement of the Bridge Operator House 

Fender timber repairs 
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This booklet was assembled and compiled to celebrate the 65th anniversary of the Commission's 
Riverside-Delanco Bridge on September 14, 2000. It is intended to provide current and available 
information for the Commission, Parsons and other interested agencies or persons as it relates to all of 
the bridges that were constructed to carry Burlington County Route 543 (River Road) across the 
Rancocas Creek between the towns of Riverside and Delanco in New Jersey. 

Acknowledgement and appreciation is expressed to all individuals and groups who have contributed 
information and/or photographs that have been included in this booklet. Special recognition is made to 
the Riverside Historical Society, The Delanco Bicentennial Book Committee, Alice Smith and Nelson 
Harding. 

Since the history of some subjects tends to be an evolving process, this booklet does not claim to 
provide the complete history of the Riverside-Delanco Bridge. At this time, the intent is to update this 
booklet at other appropriate anniversaries in the future so as to include additional information and 
photographs that might become available. 

Sasha J. Harding 
Resident Engineer 

Parsons Transportation Group 

August 28, 2000 

Parsons Transportation Group sjh 082800 
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